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PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

This is a landlord tenant action in which Plaintiff, Samuel Barresi 

("Plaintiff"), the owner of a commercial property located at 15 Fostertown Road, 

Medford, New Jersey (the "Leased Premises") seeks to recover over three 

hundred thousand dollars based upon alleged breaches of a month to month lease 

for the Leased Premises dated February 20, 2015 (the "Lease"). The sole tenant 

named in the Lease is Defendant FZG Enterprises, LLC, a New Jersey limited 

liability company ("FZG"). It is undisputed that pursuant to the terms of the 

Lease, both Plaintiff, as landlord and FZG, as tenant, had the right to terminate 

the Lease at any time upon giving thirty (30) days advance written notice to the 

other party. It is further undisputed that on April 11, 2016 FZG issued a valid 

notice of termination of the Lease to Plaintiff with an effective lease termination 

date of May 11, 2016. 

Plaintiff seeks to recover its alleged damages not only from FZG, but also 

against Defendants Zane Kromish, Fred Vison and Gary Liguori who are present 

and prior members of FZG. This claim is made even though none of the 

members of FZG signed the Lease other than in their capacities as members of 

the LLC and even though all damages sought by Plaintiff accrued after May 11, 

2016, the termination date of the Lease. 
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This office represents Defendants Kromish and Vinson. In 2016 Mr. 

Kromish and Mr. Vinson sold 100% of their interests in FZG to Gary Liguori, 

the remaining member of FZG. It is undisputed that Mr. Kromish and Mr. 

Vinson had nothing to do with FZG or the Leased Premises after the effective 

date of the sale of their interests to Mr. Liguori. It is also undisputed that neither 

Mr. Vinson nor Mr. Kromish had any written or verbal communication with 

Plaintiff during the period February 20, 2015 (the date the lease was signed) and 

January 12, 2019 when Plaintiff issued correspondence to Mr. Vinson, Mr. 

Kromish and Mr. Liguori, claiming for the first time that they were all personally 

liable for the obligations of FZG regarding its occupancy of the Leased 

Premises. 

In response to cross motions for summary judgment the Trial Court made 

the following rulings that are the subject of the cross-appeals in this matter: 

1. Based solely upon language tucked away in the "WITNESS 

WHEREOF paragraph of the Lease, the Court found that Defendants Kromish, 

Vinson, and Liguori did personally guarantee the obligations of FZG under the 

Lease. 

2. The guaranty obligations of Defendants Kromish, Vinson, and 

Liguori terminated as of May 11, 2016, the effective date of the termination of 

the Lease as found by the Court. 
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In their cross-appeal, Defendants Kromish and Vinson request that this 

Court reverse ruling number 1 above because the Trial Court did not recognize 

the ambiguity in the language of the Lease as to guarantees, did not apply the 

strict rule of construction applicable to guarantees, did not properly give weight 

to the fact that there was no separate signature line by which Kromish, Vinson 

and Liguori signed in their individual capacities and did not give any weight to 

the lease used by Plaintiff for the Leased Premises with the immediately prior 

tenant, which included a separate page for the individual personal guarantees 

and required the individuals to sign twice, once as a member of the LLC tenant 

and once on the separate guaranty page in their individual capacities. 

If this Court reverses the Trial Court's ruling number 1, it need not 

undertake a review of the second ruling noted above. If this Court does reach 

the second issue the Court should affirm the Trial Court's ruling on the second 

point since the Trial Court properly ruled that that the Lease was terminated as 

May 11, 2016 and that any personal guaranty terminated as of the Lease 

termination date. The Trial Court properly based this ruling on the undisputed 

fact that at no time did any of the individual members of the tenant LLC sign 

any writing or provide any verbal communication that reaffirmed that any 

personal guarantees that might have been given survived the lease termination. 
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PROCEDURAL HISTORY 

Plaintiff filed its complaint in this matter on June 18, 2020 (Pal 60 and an 

amended complaint on July 7, 2020. Pa25.) Count One of the amended 

complaint states a claim for unpaid rent against Defendant FZG Enterprises, 

LLC ("FZG") under a month to month lease between Plaintiff and FZG dated 

February 20, 2015 (the "Lease"). Count Two of the amended complaint states a 

claim against Defendants Kromish, Vinson and Liguori in their individual 

capacities based upon the assertion that these Defendants personally guaranteed 

the obligations of FZG under the Lease. 

Defendants Kromish and Vinson filed their Answer and Affirmative 

Defenses to the Amended Complaint on November 19, 2020. Pa30. In this 

pleading these defendants deny any liability for the obligations of FZG under 

the lease and seek a dismissal of Count Two of the Amended Complaint. On 

November 19, 2020 Defendants FZG and Liguori filed their Answer and 

Affirmative Defenses. Pa38. In this pleading these defendants deny any 

liability for any amounts due the Plaintiff. 
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On January 15, 2021 Defendants Kromish and Vinson filed a cross claim 

for indemnity against Defendants FZG and Liguori. Pa45. Defendants FZG and 

Liguori filed an answer to this cross claim on January 29, 2021. Pa49. 

The parties exchanged written discovery and the depositions of all parties 

were taken on September 8, 2021 and September 9, 2021. During the discovery 

period, counsel for Defendants Kromish and Vinson repeatedly requested the 

production of the lease used by Plaintiff for the Leased Premises for the tenant 

that immediately proceeded the tenancy of FZG. The requested lease, which 

contains guaranty provisions that were drastically different than those found in 

the FZG Lease, was not produced until March 1, 2022, during the pendency of 

the cross motions for summary judgment. DKVa 001. 

On December 15, 2021 Plaintiff filed a motion for partial summary 

judgment seeking to obtain a judgment for part of its alleged damages as against 

all Defendants including the individual defendants on the personal guaranty 

claim. Pa51. On January 11, 2022 Defendants Kromish and Vinson filed 

opposition to Plaintiff's motion and filed a cross motion that sought a dismissal 

of all claims against Defendants Kromish and Vinson. Pa117. In this submission 

Defendants Kromish and Vinson argued: (a) the language in the Lease was not 

sufficient to create a personal guaranty of the obligations of FZG under the 

Lease; (b) even if a personal guaranty was created the personal guaranty was 
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terminated upon the termination of the Lease effective May 11, 2016 and (c) 

even if a personal guaranty was created and was not terminated with the 

termination of the Lease, the personal guaranty was revoked prior to the accrual 

of amounts currently due under the Lease. Also, on January 11, 2022, 

Defendants FZG and Liguori filed opposition to Plaintiff's motion for partial 

summary judgment, arguing that Plaintiff was not entitled to the requested relief. 

On March 2, 2022, counsel for Defendants Kromish and Vinson issued 

correspondence to the Court requesting permission to submit to the Court (as 

part of the cross motions for summary judgment) the lease entered into between 

Plaintiff and the immediately prior tenant at the Leased Premises. DKVa 001. 

The Court heard oral argument on the cross motions on July 29, 2022. Ti. 

On August 1, 2022 the Court issued two orders providing its rulings on the cross-

motions for summary judgment. Pa 8, Pa9. The Court ruled that the language 

of the Lease was sufficient to create a personal guaranty of the lease obligations 

of FZG by Defendants Kromish Vinson and Liguori but that the personal 

guaranty obligations of the individual Defendants terminated as of May 11, 

2016, the effective date of the termination of the Lease. The Court did not reach 

the guaranty revocation argument raised by Defendants Kromish and Vinson. 

Ti. 
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On August 24, 2022 Plaintiff filed a motion for reconsideration of the 

Court's August 1, 2022 orders. Pa254. On August 30, 2022 Defendants 

Kromish and Vinson filed opposition to the motion for reconsideration and a 

cross motion to amend judgment to clarify what amounts might be found due 

against Defendants Kromish and Vinson under the Court's orders. Pa 259. On 

September 1, 2022 Plaintiff submitted a reply to the foregoing submission. The 

Court heard oral argument on these cross motions on September 23, 2002. T2. 

By order dated November 29, 2022 the Court denied the motion for 

reconsideration and granted the motion to amend the judgment. Pa10. The 

Court entered Final Judgment by Consent on February 7, 2023, preserving the 

parties right to appeal certain issues as set for the Final Judgement. Pa 12. 

Plaintiff filed its Notice of Appeal to this Court on March 23, 2023 and an 

Amended Notice of Appeal on March 27, 2023. Defendants Kromish and 

Vinson filed a Cross Notice of Appeal on April 5, 2023. Defendants FZG and 

Liguori filed a Cross Notice of Appeal on April 6, 2023. 

FACTS 

On February 20, 2015, Plaintiff Samuel Barresi ("Plaintiff') as Landlord 

and Defendant FZG Enterprises, LLC d/b/a Big League Dreams (`FZG") as 

Tenant entered into a month to month lease for commercial property located at 

15 Fostertown Road, Medford, New Jersey ("the Lease"). Pa59. At the time 
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the Lease was executed FZG had three members: Gary Liguori ("Liguori"), Zane 

Kromish ("Kromish") and Fred Vinson ("Vinson"). The Lease was signed by 

Liguori, Kromish and Vinson but all in their capacity as members of FZG. See 

signature lines at page 11 of the Lease. Pa70. Critically for purposes of the 

cross appeal, none of the members of FZG signed the lease in their individual 

capacities as there was only one signature line for each (which was the signature 

line for members of FZG). 

Paragraph 9 of the Lease has the heading "Insurance and Guarantees" but 

the section includes no language at all regarding guarantees. Pa 63-64. The 

only language in the entire lease that mentions a personal guaranty is tucked 

away in the "IN WHITNESS WHEREOF" paragraph. The entire paragraph 

provides as follows: 

"IN WHITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused these presents to 
be executed the day and year first above written. Additionally, the undersigned 
jointly and severally each hereby personally guarantee the obligations of the 
Tenant herein." 

Pa70. This language does not appear in any of the numbered paragraphs of the 

Lease where substantive terms are put forward. Moreover, no separate guaranty 

agreement or even separate guaranty page is attached to the Lease. 

The confusing and "buried' guaranty language in the Lease is in sharp 

contrast to the clear and unequivocal language that Plaintiff used to state a 

8 
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personal guaranty in the lease Plaintiff used for the immediately preceding 

tenant for the Leased Premises (the "Prior Lease"). DKV001. The Prior Lease 

includes a separate page announcing in Block Caps: "INDIVIDUAL 

PERSONAL GUARANTEES". The separate page then includes the following 

language as a separate paragraph and not buried in a "WHITNESS WREREOF" 

clause: 

"The undersigned jointly and severally each hereby personally guarantee the 
obligations of the Tenant hereunder, including but not limited to the Tenant's 
obligations for rent and additional rent." 

DKV001. The Prior Lease than goes on to include a separate set of signature 

lines to evidence the agreement by the signatories to be personally liable for the 

obligations under the lease. Id. Notably, in the Prior Lease the members of the 

tenant LLC signed in two places, once to evidence the LLC's agreement as 

tenant to be bound by the lease and a second time on the personal guaranty page 

to evidence agreement to be personally liable for the obligations of the LLC 

tenant under the lease. The contrast of the two leases, which are virtually 

identical in form except for the guaranty language, clearly demonstrates that 

Plaintiff knew how to draft a clear personal guaranty provision if Plaintiff 

wanted to but that Plaintiff simply choose not to do so for the Lease in the case 

at bar. 

9 
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It is undisputed that the Lease in the case at bar was prepared by counsel 

for the Plaintiff and not by any of the Defendants. Deposition of Plaintiff 10:8-

18. Pa130. Plaintiff also admits that the lease that was executed was the only 

draft of the Lease provided to the members of FZG and that there are no writings 

(including e-mails and texts) between the Plaintiff and any of the members of 

FZG regarding the terms of the Lease or the requirement of a personal guaranty 

that were exchanged prior to the execution of the Lease. Pa130-31. At their 

depositions Mr. Kromish and Mr. Vinson both testified that they did not believe 

their execution of the Lease created any personal guaranty on their part that 

guaranteed the obligations of FZG under the Lease and that Plaintiff never told 

them that a personal guaranty was required under the lease. Deposition of 

Kromish 10:16-21, (Pa 132), 13:25-14:13 (Pa 133-34); Deposition of Vinson 

21:5-11 (Pa135). 

On April 11, 2016, Liguori, on behalf of FZG issued correspondence to 

Plaintiff that FZG was terminating the lease of 15 Fostertown Road, Medford, 

New Jersey, effective 30 days from the date of Plaintiffs receipt of the notice. 

Pa126. Plaintiff maintains that the lease termination was rescinded by FZG in 

a conversation that took place between Plaintiff and Liguori on May 5, 2016. 

Liguori denies that he verbally rescinded the termination of the Lease. Pa138. 

Plaintiff further asserts that the rescission was confirmed in a letter dated May 
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6, 2016 that was addressed to FZG c/o of Liguori. Pa74. The May 6, 2016 letter 

was never co-signed by any of the members of FZG nor is there any other writing 

that confirms the rescission of the notice of termination. Paragraph 17 of the 

Lease specifically provides that "no terms may be modified except by agreement 

in writing signed by both parties." 

In 2016 both Kromish and Vinson sold all interests they held in FZG to 

Liguori by way of Bill of Sale and Assignment and Assumption Agreements that 

have an effective date of August 31, 2016. Pa112-13; Pa115-16. At his 

deposition Liguori testified that Plaintiff had notice of the sale of the Kromish 

and Vinson interests to Liguori at or about the time of these transactions. Pa136. 

Between the execution of the Lease on February 20, 2015 and January 12, 

2019 Plaintiff had no verbal or written communication with either Kromish or 

Vinson at all. During this period all communications regarding the rental of the 

property were between Plaintiff and Liguori. Pa 131. For example, all monthly 

invoices of amount due were issued exclusively to FZG c/o Liguori. Pa131. On 

January 12, 2019, Plaintiff issued correspondence for the first time ever to 

Kromish and Vinson claiming for the first time ever that Kromish and Vinson 

(and Liguori) were personally liable for monies owed by FZG. Pa76. Vinson 

promptly responded to the January 12, 2019 correspondence in a series of e-

mails between he and Plaintiff during the period January 18, 2019 and January 
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25, 2019.Pa79-88. In these e-mails Vinson asserts that he and Kromish have no 

personal liability for the debts of FZG. 

On March 27, 2019, counsel for Mr. Kromish and Mr. Vinson issued 

correspondence to Plaintiff that discussed the prior termination of the lease and 

included the following unequivocal statement: 

"It is my understanding that you have previously been advised that Mr. 
Kromish and Mr. Vinson no longer have any interest in FZG or in the leased 
premises. This is additional notice of such facts. Further this is notice that Mr. 
Kromish and Mr. Vinson have previously revoked (by reason of the lease 
termination described above) and hereby revoke again any personal guarantees 
that they have issued in the past that pertain to any lease obligations owed by 
FZG for the leased premises. Accordingly, if you decide to continue to lease the 
leased premises to FZG in the future and do not exercise your right to terminate 
the lease you shall do so without the benefit of any personal guarantees by either 
Mr. Kromish or Mr. Vinson." 

Pa127. 

On or about March 7, 2019 Plaintiff filed a Landlord Tenant Complaint 

seeking the eviction of FZG from the Fostertown Road property. Pa93-98. 

Notably, the only defendant named in the complaint is FZG. Neither Kromish 

nor Vinson are named as defendants in the complaint. On or about April 17, 

2019 Plaintiff and FZG executed a Consent to Enter Judgment which provides 

for the payment of certain amounts in order for FZG to remain in the premises. 

Pa 22. Again, notably this Consent to Enter Judgment was not signed by either 

Kromish nor Vinson. 

12 
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LEGAL ARGUMENT 

A. Summary Judgment Standard 

Rule 4:46-2(c) compels summary judgment "if the pleadings, depositions, 

answers to interrogatories and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if 

any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact challenged and 

that the moving party is entitled to a judgment ... as a matter of law." After 

reviewing the evidence presented "in the light most favorable to the non-moving 

party," Brill v. Guardian Life Ins. Co.  of Am., 142 N.J. 540, 523 (1995), courts 

must determine "whether the evidence presents a sufficient disagreement to 

require submission to a jury or whether it is so one-sided that one party must 

prevail as a matter of law." Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 251-

52 (1986). 

"An issue of fact is genuine only if, considering the burden of persuasion 

at trial, the evidence submitted by the parties on the motion, together with all 

legitimate inferences therefrom favoring the non-moving party, would require 

submission of the issue to the trier of fact." R. 4:46-2(c). "[F]acts which are 

immaterial or of an insubstantial nature, a mere scintilla, fanciful, frivolous, 

gauzy or merely suspicious," do not raise a genuine issue of material fact. Brill, 

142 N.J. at 529 (quoting Judson v. Peoples Bank & Trust Co. of Westfield, 17 

N.J. 67, 75 (1954)) (internal quotation marks omitted). Kromish and Vinson are 
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entitled to a grant of summary judgment because all of their defenses are 

established as a matter of law and don't depend on any disputed facts. 

B. Guaranties Are to Be Strictly Construed Against the Party Seeking 
Enforcement and Against the Party Who Drafted the Guaranty 

Under clearly established New Jersey Law, guaranty agreements are 

strictly construed against the party "at whose insistence such language was 

included" and are to be "interpreted most strongly against the party" who 

inserted the terms of guaranty. Ctr. 48 Ltd. P'ship v. May Dept. Stores Co., 355 

N.J. Super. 390, 405 (App. Div. 2002). "It has long been settled law that a 

[guarantee] is chargeable only according to the strict terms of its undertaking 

and its obligations cannot and should not be extended either by implication or 

by construction beyond the confines of its contract." Peoples Nat'l Bank v. 

Fowler, 73 N.J. 88, 101 (1977) (quoting Monmouth Lumber Co. v. Indemnity 

Ins. Co. of N. Am., 21 N.J. 439, 452 (1956)). Although a guarantor's obligation 

cannot extend beyond the strict terms of his or her promise, "the terms of a 

guarantee agreement must be read in light of commercial reality and in 

accordance with the reasonable expectations" of the parties involved. Ctr. 48 

Ltd. P'ship, 355 N.J. Super. at 405-06. Cf. Nat'l Westminster Bank N.J. v. 

Lomker, 277 N.J. Super. 491 (App. Div. 1994) (language contained within the 

contract is strictly construed against the entity that insists on the disputed 

language). 
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A second applicable rule of construction is that "[A]mbiguous terms are 

generally construed against the drafter of the contract." Malick v. Seaview 

Lincoln Mercury, 398 N.J. Super. 182, 187 (App. Div. 2008). Here it is 

undisputed that the Lease Agreement was drafted by the attorney for Plaintiff 

and that no proposed revisions to the Agreement were ever submitted by any of 

the Defendants. 

Both of the foregoing rules weight heavily in favor of the position of 

Defendant Kromish and Defendant Vinson that they owe nothing to Plaintiff and 

support a ruling by the Court that (a) these individuals never personally 

guaranteed the obligations of FZG Enterprises, LLC under the month to month 

lease dated February 20, 2015; (b) to the extent a personal guaranty was given 

it was terminated with termination of the month to month lease in 2016 and (c) 

to the extent a personal guaranty was given and was not terminated with 

termination of the lease in 2016, the termination of the lease was revoked on 

three separate occasions, all before Plaintiff entered into a consent judgment 

with FZG. 

C. Defendants Zane Kromish and Fred Vinson Did Not Personally 
Guarantee the Obligations of FZG Enterprises, LLC Under the 
February 20, 2015 Lease 

Defendants Zane Kromish and Fred Vinson are not listed as Tenants under 

the Lease, as the only tenant under the lease is FZG Enterprises, LLC. Thus, 
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neither Mr. Vinson nor Mr. Kromish have any personal liability for any 

obligations of FZG under the lease unless they are found to have personally 

guaranteed the obligations of FZG. Plaintiff's assertion that they have made such 

a guaranty hangs on a single sentence in the February 20, 2015 Lease which 

appears on the last page of the lease and tucked in a WITNESS WHEREOF 

clause and reads in full as follows: "Additionally, the undersigned jointly and 

severally each hereby personally guarantee the obligations of the Tenant 

herein." Notably, there is no separate guaranty agreement or even a separate 

page or paragraph of the lease that further speaks to the alleged personal 

guaranty. Moreover, the position that the above language constitutes an 

enforceable personal guaranty is directly contrary to other parts of the Lease. 

Thus, paragraph 9 of the Lease has the heading "Insurance and Guarantees" but 

the section includes no language at all regarding guarantees. Perhaps most 

importantly, the sole lease signature line for Zane Kromish reads "Zane 

Kromish-FXG Enterprises, LLC" and the sole lease signature line for Fred 

Vinson reads Fred Vinson-FXG Enterprises, LLC." Pa 70. These signature lines 

clearly indicate that Mr. Kromish and Mr. Vinson are signing the lease on behalf 

of the entity only and are not signing as guarantors in their individual capacity. 

The important component missing is a signature line for either Mr. Kromish or 

Mr. Vinson that expressly indicates that they are agreeing to guaranty the 
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obligations under the lease in their individual capacity. Under New Jersey law 

the absence of such a signature line for either of these individuals is fatal to 

Plaintiff's claim of personal guaranty. 

An important case that was discussed at length in the oral argument on the 

cross motions for summary judgment is City ~f Millville v. Rock, 683 F. Supp. 

2d. 319 (D.N.J. 2010). In this action individuals who signed two promissory 

notes that evidenced two loans made to a corporation sought summary judgment 

determining that they had no personal liability under the notes. The first note 

(in the amount of $311,430.00) included the following language: "The borrower 

shall personally guarantee the repayment of all funds borrowed." Id. at 323 

(emphasis added). This note was signed by Defendants Nave and Rock with 

official titles (Chairman & CEO and Vice Chairman and General Counsel) 

immediately following their name. Id. The second note (in the amount of 

$700,000.00) included the following language: "The undersigned trusts hereby 

guarantee the repayment of this loan made to the aforesaid corporation." Id. 

The second note was signed the same way as the first except the individuals 

signed the Note a second time evidencing the guarantee of the loan by their 

respective trusts. Id. 
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The Court granted summary for both Nave and Rock finding that neither 

was personally liable under either note. In reaching this conclusion the Court 

focused on two considerations which they indicated were relevant under New 

Jersey law: (1) whether the individual sought to be held personally liable signed 

the document a second time in their individual capacity and (2) whether there 

was evidence that the individuals sought to be found personally liable intended 

to be personally liable. 683 F. Supp. 2nd at 327-28. For both notes the Court 

determined that neither of the above considerations were satisfied as necessary 

to impose personal liability Id. 1

There are at least two un-published New Jersey Appellate Division cases 

that are fully consistent with the ruling in City of Millville and in which personal 

liability was denied as a matter of law under very similar facts as the case at bar. 

Herz v. 141 Bloomfield Ave. Corp., No. A-2954-13T2, 2015 WL 2465027, at 

*2 (N.J. Super. Ct. App. Div. June 1, 2015) (Pa 145) also involved an alleged 

personal guaranty of a commercial lease. The lease included the following 

language: "In the event of a default on the within Lease, John P. MacEvoy will 

1 In its review of New Jersey law the Court cited the unpublished case of Buyers Warranty v. 
Roblyn Dev. Corp., 2006 WL 2190742 (N.J. App. Div. 2006) (Appellate Division ruled that 
personal liability did not attach to a builder who signed a contract without indicating his professional 
capacity because the builder only signed the contract once) (Pa 162). 
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be personally liable for all obligations, rents (past and future) and damages 

[etc.], due in connection with said Lease." Id. at *1 (emphasis added). 

Mr. MacEvoy's signature appears once on the lease, on the following line: 

141 BLOOMFIELD AVENUE CORPORATION, Tenant 
By John P. MacEvoy, President 

The Trial Court granted Mr. MacEvoy summary judgment, finding no 

personal liability under the lease. This was affirmed by the Appellate Division 

without difficulty on appeal: 

"Appellants argue that the omission of a separate signature line binding 
MacEvoy personally was a clerical error and does not invalidate the personal 
guarantee. We disagree. Given the strict construction of guarantee agreements, 
and the longstanding principle that corporations are distinct entities from their 
officers, MacEvoy cannot be held personally liable for 141 Bloomfield's alleged 
breach of the lease. As there was no separate signature indicating that MacEvoy 
was undertaking a personal guarantee, we cannot conclude that there was an 
agreement between the parties that he was signing the lease in his individual 
capacity. As the motion judge noted, appellants cannot rely on a clerical error 
as a basis "to make someone liable for something that they never signed on the 
line for." 

Id. at *2. 

A second Appellate Division case on point is Lawyers Guild Realty, Inc. 

v. ICSD, L.L.C., No. A-4908-07T2, 2009 WL 3429755, at *4-6 (N.J. Super. Ct. 

App. Div. Oct. 6, 2009) (Pa150). This case involved a dispute over whether 

Mauro and Sinha, two principals of a LLC subtenant of office space, were 
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personally liable for the obligations of the LLC under the sublease. A rider to 

the sublease contained the following language: "The undersigned individuals 

personally guarantee the performance of the obligations of the Sub-Tenant in 

favor of the Tenant unconditionally and fully." The signature line of the Sub-

Tenant under the sublease, as described by the Court was as follows: "The names 

Alfred Mauro and Binod Sinha are handwritten twice under the typed name, 

"COURTHOUSE MEDICAL GROUP, L.L.C." Each is written once in cursive 

form and once in printed form. Underneath those signatures appears the word 

"GUARANTORS:". No signatures are written beneath that word and there are 

no separate guarantees appended to the sublease as are appended to [the prime 

lease]". Id. at *4. 

The Trial Court granted summary judgment for Mauro and dismissed all 

claims against him. This holding was affirmed on appeal: 

"The final argument of Lawyers Guild with respect to this issue, that 
Mauro's signature on the sublease constituted his guarantee, is, in our judgment, 
easily disposed of We have previously set forth the manner in which Mauro 
signed the sublease, both in terms of the physical placement of his name on the 
document and its appearance. Our examination of this document convinces us 
that Mauro signed this sublease solely on behalf of Courthouse, and not in any 
individual capacity. The signatures of Mauro and Sinha are contained entirely 
within the space between the typed headings Courthouse Medical Group, L.L.C. 
and Guarantors. No signatures appear beneath the word "Guarantors:". The 
conclusion is inescapable that Mauro did not sign the sublease individually but 
only on behalf of Courthouse." 

Id. at *6. 
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The Trial Court ruling that found personal liability in the case at bar was 

entered in error for several reasons. First, the Court disregarded the holding in 

the City of Millville case based on the observation that one of the notes in the 

case (the second note) had eliminated the personal liability language in favor of 

language that trusts guaranteed the loan to the corporation. This position ignores 

the fact that the first note in the case contains personal liability language that is 

very similar to the Lease in the case at bar and is directly comparable with the 

Lease in this case. Second, the Trial Court failed to acknowledge the two guiding 

principles espoused by the Court in the City of Millville case as important in 

determining personal liability and failed to apply the factors to the case at bar. 

Third, the Trial Court erred in its ruling because the Court was not supplied with 

any case law by Plaintiff whatsoever that found personal liability in a situation 

where there was not a separate signature line on which the alleged guarantor 

signed in their individual capacity.' Fourth, the Trial Court erred in finding an 

enforceable personal guaranty because it failed to give any consideration to the 

terms of the Prior Lease which highlight how muddled the Lease is regarding 

guarantees compared with a properly drafted agreement. Finally, the Court erred 

2 The guaranty cases cited by Plaintiff in their summary judgment briefing do not support the Trial Court's 
ruling. Ctr. 48 Ltd. P'ship v. May Dept. Stores Co., 355 N.J. Super. 390, 405 (App. Div. 2002), Mount Holly 
State Bank v. Mount Holly Washington Hotel, Inc., 220 N.J. Super. 506 (App. Div. 1987) and Housatonic 
Bank & Trust Co. v. Fleming, 234 N.J. Super. 79 (App. Div. 1989) all involve separate guaranty documents 
that were signed by the individual parties. The last case, HLP Associates, L.P v. Carpet City, Inc., 2015 WL 
1181271 (App. Div. 2015) included an extensive personal guaranty provision in the lease, although the 
Court's opinion does not indicate the form of signature line. 
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on this point because it did not apply the rules of strict construction as outlined 

in point B above. 

Pursuant to the City of Millville case and the similar unpublished cases 

cited above, personal liability should only be found if the individual sought to 

be charged with personal liability signs the document on a signature line that 

clearly indicates the person is signing in their individual capacity and if there is 

evidence that the signor intended to be personally bound. Here there is no 

separate signature line and there is absolutely no evidence that any of the 

individual defendants intended to be personally bound. Accordingly, the finding 

of the Trial Court that there is personal liability must be reversed. 

D. The Trial Court Correctly Ruled that Even if Zane Kromish and Fred 
Vinson Did Personally Guarantee the Obligations of FZG 
Enterprises, LLC Under the February 20, 2015 Lease, Any Such 
Guaranty Terminated On May 11, 2016 the Effective Date of the 
Termination of the February 20, 2015 Lease 

As noted in the Preliminary Statement, if the Court reverses the Trial 

Court on the above point and finds that the Lease did not create any personal 

guaranty, then the Court need not determine whether any personal guarantees 

were terminated as of May 11, 2016 as ruled by the Trial Court. However, if 

this Court does reach such issue, it should affirm the Trial Court on this point. 

Under the single sentence in the Lease that is relied upon to create the 

guaranty, the guaranty is limited to "the obligations of the Tenant herein." 
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(emphasis added). It is clear that "herein" in the foregoing sentence means the 

month to month lease dated February 20, 2015. Thus once the obligations under 

the February 20, 2015 Lease were terminated so too were all guaranty 

obligations under the Lease (if any). See, Peoples Nat'l Bank v. Fowler, 73 N.J. 

88, 101 (1977) (guarantor's obligations cannot and should not be extended either 

by implication or by construction beyond the confines of its contract (quoting 

Monmouth Lumber Co. v. Indemnity Ins. Co. of N. Am., 21 N.J. 439, 452 

(1956); see also Ctr. 48 Ltd. P'ship v. May Dept. Stores Co., 355 N.J. Super. 

390, 409 (App. Div. 2002) (termination of lease pursuant to a lease right would 

have relieved tenant of its obligation to pay rent under the lease and would have 

likewise discharged any obligation of guarantor). 

As admitted by Plaintiff, on April 11, 2016 FZG Enterprises, LLC sent a 

letter to Plaintiff notifying him that FZG was terminating its lease effective on 

the date that is 30 days after Plaintiffs receipt of the notice. Importantly, 

Plaintiff does not dispute that FZG had the right to terminate the lease by this 

notice. Instead Plaintiff claims FZG rescinded its notice of termination pursuant 

to a verbal conversation with Gary Liguori which is said to be confirmed by a 

letter issued by Plaintiff to FZG dated May 6, 2016. 

There are two problems with Plaintiff's position. First, Mr. Liguori 

disputes that he ever verbally agreed to rescind the notice of termination. 
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Second, the "confirming" letter sent by Plaintiff was not countersigned by Mr. 

Liguori or any other member of FZG. In fact, Plaintiff can produce no writing 

signed by any member of FZG that rescinds the notice of termination. As 

Plaintiff admits in his moving brief, "paragraph 17 of the Lease specifically 

provides that "no terms may be modified except by agreement in writing signed 

by both parties. Since there is no binding agreement to rescind the notice of 

termination signed by both parties, there has been no effective rescission, and 

thus the termination of the lease stands and with that the obligations of the 

guarantors are released.' 

In its Appeal Brief Plaintiff, argues that the Court's ruling that any 

personal guarantees were terminated as to May 11, 2016 was made in error 

because the Court applied the statue of frauds that governs guaranty agreements 

(N.J.S.A. 25:1-15) rather than properly applying the statute of frauds that relates 

to leases (N.J.S.A. 25:1-12). This argument fails for two separate reasons. First, 

the Court applied the correct statute of frauds. Second even if the Court failed 

to apply the correct statute of frauds the Court clarified in its ruling on Plaintiff's 

3 Even if the verbal conversation with Gary Liguori was an effective rescission of the termination notice as 
to FZG, such a rescission would not reinstate any personal guaranty by Mr. Kromish or Mr. Vinson as a 
rescission of the termination of the lease would constitute a material enlargement to the obligations of Mr. 
Kromish and Mr. Vinson without their consent which has the effect of terminating any further obligation 
under the original guaranty. See Ctr. 48 Ltd. P'ship v. May Dept. Stores Co., 355 N.J. Super. 390, 394 (App. 
Div. 2002) (guarantor is discharged if there is an alteration or modification of the underlying lease that 
injures the guarantor or increases its risk or liability under the guaranty). A change from no personal 
guaranty to a full personal guaranty is clearly a material enlargement of the Guarantor's obligations. 
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motion for reconsideration that its decision that any personal guarantees were 

terminated on May 11, 2016 did not turn on a statue of frauds analysis but rather 

on the point that once the lease was terminated there was no evidence at all that 

the individuals sought to be charged agreed to reinstate any personal guarantees 

that were created under the Lease. 

As to the argument that the Court misapplied the statue of frauds 

Plaintiff's argument fails to properly separate two different issues that were 

presented to the Court on summary judgment: (1) liability of the Tenant LLC 

for rent and other charges incurred after the lease termination and (2) the liability 

of the individual guarantors for obligations of the Tenant LLC after the lease 

termination. The issue of whether the Tenant LLC could be bound by a verbal 

amendment of the lease is a type (1) issue and the lease statute of frauds 

(N.J.S.A. 25:1-12) might have had some relevancy had that issue been litigated 

in the case. The contested issue at summary judgment and the ruling sought to 

be reversed on appeal is a type (2) issue— liability of the individual guarantors 

post lease termination. As to this issue the guaranty statute of frauds is directly 

on point and was correctly applied by the Court to bar the claim. 

Perhaps recognizing that its guaranty claim has a statute of frauds 

problem, Plaintiff next argues that the doctrine of "part performance" overcomes 

this defense. There are two problems with this argument. First there is no 
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authority provided that the doctrine applies beyond the statute of frauds 

provision for leases. The only case cited, Deutsch v. Budget Rent-A-Car, 213 

N.J. Super 385 (App. Div. 1986) is a lease case and describes the doctrine as 

applying to "real estate" cases under the statute of frauds. Second, even if the 

doctrine potentially applies to the guaranty statute of frauds, there is absolutely 

no evidence in the case that any of the guarantors part performed under the 

guarantees. Thus no guarantor has paid any personal funds for the Tenant LLC's 

obligations, ever. Indeed, it is undisputed that after the signing of the lease in 

2015, there was no verbal or written contact between Plaintiff and either Mr. 

Vinson or Mr. Kromish until Plaintiff made a claim under the guaranty by letter 

dated January 12, 2019. As noted above, upon receipt of Plaintiff's January 12, 

2019 correspondence, Kromish/Vinson immediately disputed the claim by a 

series of e-mails and never wavered from this position. 

Plaintiff is also wrong in asserting that the Court's ruling that any personal 

guarantees terminated on May 11, 2016 turned on the Court's statute of frauds 

analysis. The Court clarified this point in its ruling on the motion for 

reconsideration: 

The Court: ".... you're arguing against the termination and I'm saying if I find 
that the guarantee was terminated with that letter, then let's take statute of frauds 
out of it....So. ... if .... I found the lease was terminated. Take statute of frauds 
out of it. I don't think we even need to address it." T2, p12-13. 
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Instead, the Court found termination because there was not sufficient evidence 

to find a reinstatement of any guaranty: 

"But I am going to have to hold something up a little firmer as it relates to this 
guarantee. Because ... when you have personal guarantees out there and they ... 
have an ability to get out of it on ..... a 30 day notice and they provide that notice 
.... through the Tenant, I.... think that self-serving by the tenant to say okay, 
I'm going to stay, doesn't bring back the guarantees at ...guarantors at that point 
in time." T2, page 33. 

The above analysis correctly applies the rules of strict construction as to 

personal guarantees and should be sustained by this Court in its ruling on appeal. 

The balance of Plaintiff's arguments for overturning the Court's ruling on 

this point also have no merit and can be easily dismissed by this Court. The first 

argument is that the "practical construction" of the lease establishes that Plaintiff 

and the LLC tenant intended to rescind the notice of lease termination. The cited 

cases present the idea that when the wording of a contract is ambiguous the 

Court can look at the conduct of the parties to assist with interpreting the intent 

of the parties. The practical construction argument is a rule of interpretation for 

ambiguous signed  contracts. As the Trial Court pointed out in its ruling, the 

May 6, 2016 letter issued by Plaintiff was never countersigned by either the 

Tenant LLC or any of the individual guarantors. Nor is there any other signed 

writing that can be interpreted due to conduct. Likewise, if conduct of the 

parties is to be considered, the conduct that would be relevant to the liability of 

the guarantors (the only issue contested in the appeal) would be the conduct of 
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the individual guarantors. As noted above, none of the guarantors ever took any 

action that affirmed their personal liability for the obligations of the Tenant 

LLC. 

The next argument presented in Plaintiffs appeal brief is that the 

requirement in the month to month lease that any modifications to the lease must 

be in writing was waived. This argument fails because there is nothing in the 

record that indicates that the conduct of the guarantors constituted a waiver of 

their right to require a signed writing if their obligations under the guarantor 

were to be modified or amended. A reinstatement of their personal liability for 

the Tenant LLC obligations under the lease after termination of such obligations 

would certainly be a major expansion of guaranty obligations for which the 

guarantors could rightfully expect a new writing signed by them to confirm such 

reinstatement. 

E. Even if Zane Kromish and Fred Vinson Did Personally Guarantee the 
Obligations of FZG Enterprises, LLC Under the February 20, 2015 Lease, 
And Even if Such Guaranty Was Not Terminated With the Termination of 
the Lease in 2016, Such Guaranty Was Revoked Before Plaintiff and FZG 
Enterprises, LLC Entered into A Consent Judgment For Payment of 
Amounts Due.4

Under New Jersey law a continuing guaranty is one that is not limited to 

a particular transaction but which is intended to cover future transactions. Swift 

4 This argument was briefed in the cross motions for summary judgement but was not addressed by the 
Trial Court in its summary judgment rulings. If necessary, the argument should be addressed by this Court. 
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& Co. v. Smigel, 115 N.J. Super. 391, 394 (App. Div. 1971) (citing, Fidelity 

Union Trust Co. v. Galm, 109 N.J.L. 111, 116, 160 A. 645 (E. & A.1932). A 

continuing guaranty is at its inception an offer from the guarantor and is 

accepted by the creditor each time the latter does a specified act (E.g., extending 

credit to the debtor). Id. To the extent the February 20, 2015 lease created a 

personal guaranty (which it did not) such guaranty is a continuing guaranty since 

each month the lease was not terminated by Plaintiff, Plaintiff provided an 

additional month of possession to FZG. Typically, a conditional guaranty 

reserves in the guarantor the power to revoke it unilaterally prior to action by 

way of acceptance by the creditor. Swift & Co. 115 N.J. Super at 394. 

In this case Zane Kromish and Fred Vinson have revoked any continuing 

guaranty that was created on at least three occasions. First, the guaranty was 

revoked in 2016 when Plaintiff became aware that Zane Kromish and Fred 

Vinson had sold all of their interest in FZG and retained absolutely no interest 

in the entity.5 Second, in an exchange of e-mail correspondence between 

Plaintiff and Fred Vinson that took place in January, 2019 Mr. Vinson clearly 

stated to Plaintiff that he and Mr. Kromish had sold all of their interests in FZG 

5 Plaintiff cites the case of Mount Holly State Bank v. Mount Holly Washington Hotel, Inc., 220 N.J. Super. 
506 (App. Div. 1987) for the idea that knowledge that a guarantor has sold its interest in an entity does not 
automatically equate to a revocation. The case is distinguishable from the case at bar because in Mount 
Holly the guarantor retained a financial interest in the corporate debtor after the sale of its interest (as a 
creditor of the corporate debtor) and therefor benefited from the continued advancement of funds by the 
Bank. Here Mr. Kromish and Mr. Vinson retained absolutely no interest in FZG and received no benefit from 
the continuation of the month to month lease by Plaintiff. 
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"several years ago" and that they had no further responsibility under any lease 

guaranty (if there ever was such a guaranty). Pa79-88. Third, in case there 

remained any doubt about revocation, on March 27, 2019 counsel for Mr. 

Kromish and Mr. Vinson issued correspondence to Plaintiff that discussed the 

prior termination of the lease and included the following unequivocal statement: 

"It is my understanding that you have previously been advised that Mr. 
Kromish and Mr. Vinson no longer have any interest in FZG or in the leased 
premises. This is additional notice of such facts. Further this is notice that Mr. 
Kromish and Mr. Vinson have previously revoked (by reason of the lease 
termination described above) and hereby revoke again any personal guarantees 
that they have issued in the past that pertain to any lease obligations owed by 
FZG for the leased premises. Accordingly, if you decide to continue to lease the 
leased premises to FZG in the future and do not exercise your right to terminate 
the lease you shall do so without the benefit of any personal guarantees by either 
Mr. Kromish or Mr. Vinson." 

Since Plaintiff's rent damages are based entirely on the April 17, 2019 

Consent to Enter Judgment,' Mr. Vinson and Mr. Kromish are not responsible 

for any such amounts due since the revocation took place before the entry of the 

Consent Judgment. 

CONCLUSION 

For all of the foregoing reasons, the Court should reverse the Trial 

Court's ruling that the execution of the Lease by Defendants Kromish, Vinson 

and Liguori created personal liability by them for the obligations of FZG under 

6 Plaintiffs Appeal Brief fails to give any reason why Mr. Vinson and Mr. Kromish would be bound by the 
April 17, 2019 Consent to Enter Judgment. Mr. Vinson and Mr. Kromish were not named as defendants in 
the underlying landlord tenant matter, and did not sign the Consent Judgment. 
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the Lease. In the alternative the Court should affirm the Trial Court's ruling that 

any personal guaranties terminated as of May 11, 2016 or were revoked prior to 

the accrual of the obligation sought to be enforced. 

BROWN & CONNERY, LLP 
Attorneys for defendants Zane Kromish 
and Fred Vinson 

/s/ Mark P. Asselta 
By: Mark P. Asselta 

Dated: October 11, 2023 
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PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

This office represents Defendants Zane Kromish ("Kromish") and Fred Vison 

("Vinson"). In this action Plaintiff Samuel Barresi ("Barresi") alleges that Kromish 

and Vinson are liable (along with Defendant Gary Liguori ("Liguori")) as personal 

guarantors for the obligations of Defendant FZG Enterprises, LLC, a New Jersey 

limited liability company ("FZG") under a month to month commercial lease that 

was entered into between FZG and Barresi. The appeal and cross-appeal in this 

matter present three issues: (1) Did Kromish, Vinson and Liguori personally 

guarantee the obligations of FZG under the month to month lease: (2) if there was a 

personal guaranty was the guaranty terminated as of May 11, 2016 when the month 

to month lease was terminated (as ruled by the Trial Court) and (3) if there was a 

personal guaranty and the guaranty was not terminated as of May 11, 2016, was the 

guaranty revoked prior to the consent judgment that Barresi relies upon for its claim 

for rent and other amounts due under the month to month lease. 

The appeal filed by Barresi relates to issue (2) only since the Trial Court ruled 

in Barresi's favor as to issue (1) and did not make a ruling as to issue (3). The Cross-

Appeals filed by Kromish and Vinson and by Liguori, relate to issues (1) and (3). 

Since this is a reply brief on the Cross — Appeal, this brief addresses issues (1) and 

(3) only. As to issue (2), Kromish and Vinson stand on their arguments as set forth 

in their initial brief as may be supplemented at oral argument. 

1 
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Because there is substantial ambiguity in the lease drafted by Barresi as to 

whether a personal guaranty was created thereunder, since guaranties are to be 

strictly construed against the party asserting the guaranty and against the drafter of 

an ambiguous document, since Barresi has ignored important points in the reported 

decision cited by both sides, since Kromish and Vinson have supported their position 

with case authority that includes very similar facts as the case at bar, and since 

Barresi has failed to cite any case law that supports his position, the Court should 

find that no personal guaranty has been created, or if necessary find that the guaranty 

was terminated as of May 11, 2016 or was revoked prior to the entry of the Consent 

Judgment relied upon by Barresi. 

PROCEDURAL HISTORY 

Kromish and Vinson rely upon the procedural history set forth in their initial 

appeal brief. 

FACTS 

Kromish and Vinson rely upon the recitation of facts set forth in their initial 

appeal brief. 

LEGAL ARGUMENT 

A. Defendants Kromish and Vinson Did Not _Personally Guarantee the 

Obligations of FZG Enterprises, LLC Under the February 20, 2015 
Lease 

2 
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1. The Month to Month Lease Drafted by Barresi is Ambiguous as 

to Whether It Created a Personal Guaranty by Kromish, Vinson and 

Liguori and Therefore the Strict Rules of Construction Against the 

Finding of a Guaranty Apply. 

Barresi's position that that there are enforceable personal guaranties against 

Kromish Vinson and Liguori hinges on the contention that the lease language that 

is asserted to create the personal guaranties was "clear and unequivocal." Plaintiff 

Reply Brief at 2. This assertion is not correct. Rather, the language is ambiguous 

and because it is ambiguous the rules of construction that apply to enforcement of 

guaranties and to construing documents against the drafter, dictate that this Court 

make a ruling that there was no personal guaranty. 

Under New Jersey law "[a]n ambiguity in a contract exists if the terms of the 

contract are susceptible to at least two reasonable alternative interpretations." M.J. 

Paquet, Inc. v. N.J. Dep't of Transp., 171 N.J. 378, (N.J. 2002). Whether the terms 

of a contract are clear and unambiguous is a question of law and is suitable to be 

considered at summary judgment. Driscoll Const. Co., Inc. v. State, Dept. of Transp., 

371 N.J. Super. 304, 853 A.2d 270, 276 (N.J. Super. Ct. App. Div. 2004). 

Here the lease language is ambiguous and allows for the alternate 

interpretation that no personal guaranty was formed due to at least the following: 

• There is nothing in any of the numbered paragraphs of the lease that states 
that a signing of the lease by a member of the LLC tenant, creates a personal 
guaranty of the lease obligations by the signing member. For example, 
paragraph 9 of the lease which is headed "Insurance and Guaranties" includes 
no language at all as to guaranties. 

3 
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• The single sentence relied upon by Barresi is tucked away in a "IN WITNESS 

WHEREOF" clause which comes after all of the substantive paragraphs of the 

lease are stated and which clause is typically not the place in a document 

where substantive and important provisions of a lease are placed. Moreover, 

the single sentence relied upon appears in regular type and is not bolded, 

underlined, place in all CAPS or otherwise highlighted. A lay reader can easily 

(and apparently did) skip over such language. 

• At the place where the lease is signed, the name of each tenant signor is typed 

directly below the signature line followed by "- FXG Enterprises." 

Importantly, at the place of each signature the word "guaranty" does appear, 

the word "individually" does not appear and the word "personally' does not 

appear. In short at the place of signature there is absolutely no indication that 

the signing of the lease as a representative of the LLC would result as a 

personal guaranty of the obligations of the LLC under the lease. 

• Kromish, Vinson and Liguori only signed the lease once, as described above. 

There were no separate sets of signatures on the document. 

• The lease was the only document signed by Kromish, Vinson and Liguori. 

There was no separate guaranty document, or even a separate page or even a 

separate paragraph marked guaranty. 

The confusing and "buried' guaranty language in the Lease is in sharp 

contrast to the clear and unequivocal language that Barresi used to state a 

personal guaranty in the lease Barresi used for the immediately preceding tenant 

for the Leased Premises (the "Prior Lease"). DKV003. The Prior Lease includes 

a separate page announcing in Block Caps: "INDIVIDUAL PERSONAL 

GUARANTIES". The separate page then includes the following language as a 

separate paragraph and not buried in a "WITNESS WREREOF" clause: 

4 
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"The undersigned jointly and severally each hereby personally guaranty the 

obligations of the Tenant hereunder, including but not limited to the Tenant's 

obligations for rent and additional rent." 

DKVa015. 

The Prior Lease then goes on to include a separate set of signature lines 

to evidence the agreement by the signatories to be personally liable for the 

obligations under the lease. Id. Notably, in the Prior Lease the members of the 

tenant LLC signed in two places, once to evidence the LLC's agreement as 

tenant to be bound by the lease (DKVa014) and a second time on the personal 

guaranty page to evidence agreement to be personally liable for the obligations 

of the LLC tenant under the lease DKVa015. The contrast of the two leases, 

which are virtually identical in form except for the guaranty language, clearly 

demonstrates that Plaintiff knew how to draft a clear personal guaranty provision 

if Plaintiff wanted to but that Plaintiff simply choose not to do so for the Lease 

in the case at bar. 

Since the language of the lease signed by Kromish, Vinson and Liguori is 

definitively not "clear and unequivocal", the Court is to apply the well-established 

rules of construction, described in prior briefing by the parties: (1) that guaranties 

are to be strictly construed against the party seeking to establish the guaranty and (2) 

that ambiguous documents are to be construed against the drafter of the document. 

5 
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These rules of construction dictate a finding that the lease signed by Kromish, 

Vinson and Liguori included no personal guaranties. 

2. Barresi Has Misapplied the Language Included in Ctr. 48 Ltd. 

P'ship v. May Dept. Stores Co. which States that "the terms of a guaranty 

agreement must be read in light of commercial reality and in accordance 

with the reasonable expectations' of the parties." 

In his reply brief Barresi agrees with the two rules of construction discussed 

above but asserts that the Defendants "fail to appreciate the key language from [Ctr. 

48 Ltd. P'ship vs. May Dept. Stores, 355 N.J. Super 390, 405, 406 (App. Div. 2002)] 

the guaranty agreement must be read in light of commercial reality and in accordance 

with the reasonable expectations of persons in the business community involved in 

transactions of the type involved." Plaintiff Reply Brief, p. 5. Barresi interprets this 

language to mean that the issue of whether a personal guaranty is to be found turns 

on whether it would have made economic sense to request such a guaranty. For 

example, in his reply brief Barresi argues "It would not be commercially reasonable 

for Barresi to entrust a $2-million-dollar property to a LLC with absolutely no assets 

...." Plaintiff Reply Brief, at 6. According to Barresi's argument, the above test is 

controlling and displaces the well-established rules of construction discussed above.1

The language counted upon by Barresi seems to have been originated by the 

Court in Mount Holly State Bank v. Mount Holly Washington Hotel, Inc., 220 N.J. 

1 The Trial Court below did not make any fmding as to whether the test espoused by Barresi was met under the facts 
of the case and otherwise did not indicate that it needed to make such a fmding. 

6 
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Super. 506 (App. Div. 1987). In Mount Holly individuals signed a separate guaranty 

agreement for notes signed by a corporate entity. There was no dispute in the case 

as to the validity of the personal guaranty. Rather, the issue in the case was whether 

a restructuring of the underlying notes and changes in the ownership of the corporate 

entity affected the continued validity of the guaranties. Accordingly, the Court in 

Mount Holly did not announce a new test to determine whether a personal guaranty 

was in effect in the first place, that was admitted by the parties.. 

The language relied upon by Barresi also appears in Ctr. 48 Ltd. P'ship v. May 

Dept. Stores Co., 355 N.J. Super. 390, 405 (App. Div. 2002) which is the case 

directly cited by Barresi for his argument. Ctr. 48 involved the personal guaranty of 

lease obligations under a commercial lease. But, once again, the existence of the 

personal guaranty was not in dispute as the issue to be decided by the Court was 

whether subsequent changes in the underlying lease affected the guaranty. 

Finally, the Court in City of Miliville v. Rock, 683 F. Supp. 2d. 319 (D.N.J. 

2010) cites to the language relied upon by Barresi. The Court in the City of Millville 

case was required to determine whether personal guaranties were created in the first 

place. The Court, however, did not engage in any sort of analysis as to whether it 

made commercial sense for the Plaintiff to require a personal guaranty for the type 

of transactions involved. That was not part of its analysis at all. Instead the Court 

relied upon the quoted language solely to support its conclusion that it was necessary 

7 
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to find evidence that the alleged guarantor intended to be bound by a personal 

guaranty (picking up on the reasonable expectations part of the language). 683 F. 

Supp. 2d. 319, 328. 

The above discussion clearly demonstrates that Barresi has misapplied the 

language quoted from Ctr. 48 in order to distract from the correct analysis which is 

to focus on whether the alleged personal guaranty is clear and unequivocal or 

ambiguous and whether the alleged guarantor intended to be personally bound. 

Nothing in Ctr. 48 suggests any other analysis for the determination of whether a 

personal guaranty exists in the first place. 

3. Barresi and the Trial Court Have Ignored Important Principles 

Relied Upon in City of Millville v. Rock. 

The City of Millville case has been cited by both Barresi and the Defendants 

in both trial and appeal briefs and was discussed at length at the oral argument in the 

cross motions for summary judgment before the Trial Court. Both Barresi and the 

Trial Court, however, have improperly discounted the significance of the case by 

attempting to distinguish the case on its facts. What Barresi and the Trial Court have 

ignored is that in the City of Millville case, as part of its analysis of New Jersey law, 

the Court sets forth two important factors that must be considered when determining 

whether there is a binding personal guaranty: (1) whether the individual sought to 

be held personally liable signed the document a second time in their individual 

capacity and (2) whether there was evidence that the individuals sought to be found 

8 
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personally liable intended to be personally liable. 683 F. Supp. 2nd at 327-28. The 

Court found that neither of these factors were satisfied which was an alternate basis 

for the Court's finding of no personal guaranty. 

As set forth in the initial appeal brief of Kromish and Vinson, here there is no 

separate signature line and there is absolutely no evidence that any of the individual 

defendants intended to be personally bound. Accordingly, the finding of the Trial 

Court that there is personal liability must be reversed. 

4. Cases Cited By Kromish and Vinson Fully Support a Finding 

That There Has Been No Personal Guaranty 

As set forth in the initial appeal brief of Kromish and Vinson, and as set forth 

above, the Court's decision in City of Millville v. Rock, 683 F. Supp. 2d. 319 (D.N.J. 

2010) directly supports the position that Kromish, Vinson and Liguori did not 

personally guaranty the obligations of FZG Enterprises, LLC under the lease. When 

the two principles set forth by the Court in the City of Millville case are applied to 

the facts in this case it is clear that no enforceable personal guaranty was created 

when the lease was signed by each as members of the LLC only. 

Barresi attempts to sidestep the import of the City of Miliville case by arguing 

that its facts are distinguishable from the fact here. Barresi's position is fatally 

flawed because Barresi simply chooses to ignore the two guiding principles that were 

a large part of the Court's decision to find no personal guaranty in that case. He 

9 
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offers no arguments at all as to how the two principles should be applied to the case 

at bar. 

In their initial brief, Kromish and Vinson also cite to two unpublished 

Appellate Division cases with facts that are very similar to the case at bar and in 

which the Court had to address ambiguities in the document that was alleged to 

create the personal guaranty. In each case there is language in the document that 

states that a personal guaranty was being created but at the place of signature the 

alleged guarantors only singed in their corporate capacities. 

The first case is Herz v. 141 Bloomfield Ave. Corp., No. A-2954-13T2, 

2015 WL 2465027, at *2 (N.J. Super. Ct. App. Div. June 1, 2015) (Pa 145) 

which also involved an alleged personal guaranty of a commercial lease. The 

lease included the following language: "In the event of a default on the within 

Lease, John P. MacEvoy will be personally liable for all obligations, rents 

(past and future) and damages [etc.], due in connection with said Lease." Id. at 

*1 (emphasis added). 

Mr. MacEvoy's signature appears once on the lease, on the following line: 

141 BLOOMFIELD AVENUE CORPORATION, Tenant 

By John P. MacEvoy, President 

10 
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The Trial Court granted Mr. MacEvoy summary judgment, finding no 

personal liability under the lease. This was affirmed by the Appellate Division 

without difficulty on appeal. The Appellate Division's decision was solidly 

based on the principle that there was only one signature line and that you can't 

"make someone liable for something that they never signed on the line for." Id. 

at *2. 

In his reply brief Barresi tries to distinguish Herz by arguing that in Herz 

the plaintiff claimed it was a clerical error to fail to include a second signature 

line whereas in this case Barresi is not claiming a clerical error.2 The argument 

fails because it is clear that the Court's decision did not turn on the clerical error 

point but on the single signature line, how the lease was signed at the place of 

signature and the requirement of strict construction of guaranty agreements. See 

excerpt of the Court's decision at Kromish Vinson initial appeal brief at p. 19. 

A second Appellate Division case cited in the Kromish Vinson initial brief 

is Lawyers Guild Realty, Inc. v. ICSD, L.L.C., No. A-4908-07T2, 2009 WL 

3429755, at *4-6 (N.J. Super. Ct. App. Div. Oct. 6, 2009) (Pa150). This case 

involved a dispute over whether Mauro and Sinha, two principals of a LLC 

subtenant of office space, were personally liable for the obligations of the LLC 

under the sublease. A rider to the sublease contained the following language: 

2 The fact that the litigant claimed that the omission of a second signature line was a clerical error actually shows a 
recognition that a second signature line was required in order to establish an enforceable personal guaranty. 

11 
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"The undersigned individuals personally guaranty the performance of the 

obligations of the Sub-Tenant in favor of the Tenant unconditionally and fully." 

The signature line of the Sub-Tenant under the sublease, as described by the 

Court was as follows: "The names Alfred Mauro and Binod Sinha are 

handwritten twice under the typed name, "COURTHOUSE MEDICAL GROUP, 

L.L.C." Each is written once in cursive form and once in printed form. 

Underneath those signatures appears the word "GUARANTORS:." No 

signatures are written beneath that word and there are no separate guaranties 

appended to the sublease as are appended to [the prime lease]". Id. at *4. 

The Trial Court granted summary judgment for Mauro and dismissed all 

claims against him. This holding was affirmed on appeal. 

Barresi's attempt to distinguish Lawyers Gui id is also weak. The argument 

is that in Lawyers Guild there was the word Guaranty below the signature line 

and no signature is placed below that word, whereas in the case at bar the word 

Guaranty was not underneath the signature line. The argument fails to address 

the fact that the lease in Lawyers Guild included virtually the same language as 

included here and that language was found insufficient given the precise 

wording as to how the document was signed at the place of signature. 

12 
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5. Cases Cited by Barresi Fail to Support a Finding that Has Been a 

Personal Guaranty 

In contrast to Kromish and Vinson, Barresi has been unable to provide the 

Court with any case authority with similar facts, published or unpublished that 

supports his positon. Barresi cites to the following cases: Ctr. 48 Ltd. P'ship v. May 

Dept. Stores Co., 355 N.J. Super. 390, 405 (App. Div. 2002); Mount Holly State 

Bank v. Mount Holly Washington Hotel, Inc., 220 N.J. Super. 506 (App. Div. 1987); 

Housatonic Bank & Trust Co. v. Fleming, 234 N.J. Super. 79 (App. Div. 1989) and 

HLP Associates, L.P v. Carpet City, Inc., 2015 WL 1181271 (App. Div. 2015). 

None of these cases support Barresi's position because (1) all have separate guaranty 

documents or extensive guaranty provisions within the lease and (2) more 

importantly, the existence of a personal guaranty was admitted by both parties in 

each cases so the Courts in all of these cases did not have to resolve the issue of 

whether there was a personal guaranty in the first place. 

The only case cited by Barresi which included the issue of whether a personal 

guaranty was created in the first place is Benjamin and DLC Services Corp. v. 

Garden Operations Corp. No. A-2315-11T2 2013 WL 6508491 (N.J. Super. Ct. 

App. Div. Dec. 13, 2013) (Pa 239). In Benjamin the issue was whether the 

president of a corporation had personally guaranteed the obligations of the 

corporation under several separate equipment leases. The lease contained the 

following signature line that was contended to create the personal guaranty: 
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We (I) hereby guaranty the punctual payment of the rental stipulated and the 

performance of the covenants set forth in the foregoing to be paid and/or 

performed by the said: 

THE SIXTH TORO FAMILY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP 

Dated: 02/01/07 

By: SIXTH TORO CORP., GP, Helmer Toro, President, INDIVIDUALLY and as 

an officer of THE SIXTH TORO FAMILY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP 

The Court found that the above signature line was sufficient to constitute a 

personal guaranty because (1) at the signature line the language underneath the 

signature expressly stated in bold caps that the corporate officer was signing in his 

corporate capacity and in his individual  capacity and (2) the evidence established 

that at the time the document was signed "both parties assumed his signature would 

have the effect of constituting a personal guaranty of the lease payments, as had been 

the practice over many years." Id. at *8 (emphasis added). 

Benjamin is properly distinguished from the case at bar because (1) at the 

signature line in this case there is no language that states that Kromish, Vinson and 

Liguori were signing both in their corporate capacity and in their individual capacity 

and (2) there is no evidence that Kromish, Vinson or Liguori understood they were 

personally guarantying the obligations of the LLC under the lease. In fact, Kromish 

and Vinson affirmatively testified they had no belief they were personally 
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guarantying the obligations of the LLC by signing the lease as a representatives of 

the LLC. Deposition of Kromish 10:16-21, (Pa 132), 13:25-14:13 (Pa 133-34); 

Deposition of Vinson 21:5-11 (Pa135). 

The Benjamin Court itself indicated that it would have decided the case 

differently on different facts: 

"This was not a scenario in which the language purporting to make a corporate 

individually responsible was buried in small print in the middle of the text. 

Rather, the language was in large print, and placed prominently below the 

signature line." 

Id. at *8. 

The facts at bar exactly fit the Benjamin admonition. Accordingly, even the 

only case cited by Barresi supports the position of Kromish and Vinson that there 

has been no personal guaranty. 

B. Even if Zane Kromish and Fred Vinson Did Personally Guarantee the 

Obligations of FZG Enterprises, LLC Under the February 20, 2015 

Lease, And Even if Such Guaranty Was Not Terminated With the 

Termination of the Lease in 2016, Such Guaranty Was Revoked Before 

Plaintiff and FZG Enterprises, LLC Entered into A Consent Judgment 

For Payment of Amounts Due. 

As an alternate basis for finding that Kromish and Vinson are not liable for 

the obligations claimed by Barresi against FZG Enterprises, LLC, Kromish and 

Vinson argue that any continuing guaranty made by them was revoked on at least 

three separate occasions: (1) in 2016 when Barresi became aware that Zane Kromish 

and Fred Vinson had sold all of their interests in FZG and retained absolutely no 
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interest in the entity; (2) in an exchange of e-mail correspondence between Barresi 

and Vinson that took place in January, 2019 in which Vinson clearly stated to 

Barresi that he and Mr. Kromish had sold all of their interests in FZG "several years 

ago" and that they had no further responsibility under any lease guaranty (if there 

ever was such a guaranty). Pa79-88; (3) on March 27, 2019 counsel for Mr. Kromish 

and Mr. Vinson issued correspondence to Barresi which clearly and unequivocally 

revoked any existing guaranty. All of these revocations took place before April 17, 

2019 which was the date of the entry of the Consent to Enter Judgement which is the 

document under which Barresi claims his damages. As such, even if a personal 

guaranty was made by Kromish and Vinson and even if the guaranty was not 

terminated upon the termination of the month to month lease, Kromish and Vinson 

are still not liable for any sums claims due because the guaranty was effectively 

revoked prior to the entry of the relied upon Consent Judgment. 

Notably, in his reply brief Barresi does not deny that he received the January, 

2019 emails from Vinson and that he received the March 27, 2019 letter from 

counsel for Kromish and Vinson. Barresi also does not deny that the foregoing 

events all took place before the entry of the Consent Judgment relied upon. Finally, 

Barresi does not deny that any personal guaranty signed by Kromish, Vinson and 

Liguori was in the nature of a continuing guaranty since the underlying lease was a 

month to month lease that could be terminated at any time by either party and thus 
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each month that the lease was not terminated constituted an extension of additional 

consideration by Barresi. Rather, Barresi defends this claim based only on the 

following two arguments: (1) the alleged guaranty in the month to month lease did 

not expressly reserve the right to revoke the guaranty prior to the extension of time 

under the month to month lease3 and (2) the communications made in 2016, and in 

January, 2019 did not expressly claim revocation when the communication was 

made. Like the other arguments made by Barresi these two arguments are fatally 

flawed. 

As to the first argument, even though the guaranties in Swift & Co., Fidelity 

Union Trust Co.  and  Mount Holly State Bank all contain right to revoke language 

there is nothing in any of the cases that states that such language is required in order 

to claim revocation under a continuing guaranty, especially when the guaranty 

language relied upon does not expressly state any guaranty was irrevocable. The 

strict construction of guaranties and the principle of construing ambiguities against 

the draft tilt this point against Barresi. 

Regarding the second argument, again there is nothing in any case cited by 

Barresi that requires use of the word revocation to constitute an effective revocation. 

Thus in Swift & Co. notice of the mental incompetence of the guarantor alone was 

3 It is not surprising that the once sentence that is alleged to constitute the personal guaranty in this case does not 
include an express provision allowing revocation as no substantive terms of the guaranty are included anywhere in 
the Lease. Conversely, it is also accurate to state that the one sentence relied upon does not state that any guaranty 
made is irrevocable. 
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deemed potentially sufficient to work a revocation. In Mount Holly State Bank the 

Court ruled that notice of the guarantor's sale of its interest in the corporation alone 

could potentially work a revocation. In any event, if use of the word revocation was 

required under applicable law there is no dispute that counsel's letter of March 27, 

2019 liberally used the term "revocation". 

In light of the above, should the Court reach this issue, which was not 

addressed in the Trial Court's summary judgment ruling below, the Court should 

find revocation and issue a ruling that Kromish and Vinson are not liable for any 

amounts claimed due from FZG Enterprises, LLC. 

CONCLUSION 

For all of the foregoing reasons, the Court should reverse the Trial Court's 

ruling that the execution of the Lease by Defendants Kromish, Vinson and 

Liguori created personal liability by them for the obligations of FZG under the 

Lease. In the alternative the Court should affirm the Trial Court's ruling that 

any personal guaranties were terminated as of May 11, 2016 or were revoked 

prior to the accrual of the obligation sought to be enforced. 

BROWN & CONNERY, LLP 

Attorneys for defendants Zane Kromish and 

Fred Vinson 

/s/ Mark P. Asselta 
By: Mark P. Asselta 

Dated: January 10, 2024 
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